Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

2-12-2014

Giles v. Eagle Farms Appellant's Brief Dckt. 41469

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from the Industrial Commission's Order dated August 27, 2013 ("Order") and its adoption and approval of Referee Michael Powers's Findings of Fact,

Conclusion of Law, and Recommendation dated August 27, 2013 ("Findings"). In its Order, the

Commission found that the defendant/appellee, Eagle Farms, Inc., and the State Insurance

Fund (collectively "Employer") met their burden of proving that claimant/appellant's, Newman

Kalahan Giles ("Kal"), intoxication was a reasonable and substantial cause of his injuries, such

that Kal was barred from receiving income benefits pursuant to Idaho Code Section 72-208.

This case arises from a motor vehicle accident in which Kal, who was nineteen-years-old at the time, was seriously injured. On August 17, 2008, Kal was traveling down a highway at night in Jefferson County, Idaho, when his vehicle left the roadway and crashed. At the time of the accident, Kal was travelling at approximately 123 miles per hour. Kal was not wearing a seat belt and was ejected from his vehicle. Evidence in the record suggests that Kal was texting at the time he crashed. Also, Kal had a blood alcohol content of .11.

Now on appeal, Kal seeks a ruling from this Court that the Commission erred in refusing to consider evidence that Kal was texting at the time of the accident; the Commission erred in finding that the Employer met its burden that intoxication was a reasonable and substantial cause of his injuries; the Commission erred by relying on evidence of Kal's use of legally prescribed medication; and the Commission erred in refusing to find that Kal's failure to wear a seat belt was a reasonable and substantial cause of his injuries. For the reasons set forth

herein, this Court should reverse the Commission, vacate the Commission's Order and Findings dated August 27, 2013, and hold that the Employer has not met its burden, pursuant to Idaho Code Section 72-208(2), of proving that intoxication was reasonable and substantial cause of Kal's injuries.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Background.

Kal has an Axis 1 diagnosis of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder ("ADHD).¹ ADHD causes people to have addictive personalities.² One of Kal's major addictions is his addiction to speed.³ Kal's "Axis I diagnosis of Attention Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder [causes him] to engage in risk-taking behavior, including driving at excessive speeds. . . ."⁴

Kal describes himself as a "huge speeder," says he always goes fast, and that driving 100 miles an hour does not concern him.⁵ Kal's father, Newman William Giles ("Newman"), describes Kal as a "habitual speeder." Newman says Kal was not a good driver and that he drove fast.⁷

¹ See 14:7-12 of the deposition transcript of Dr. Joe Anderson dated February 13, 2013 ("Anderson Depo.").

² Anderson Depo., 14:7-20.

³ Anderson Depo., 14:7-20.

⁴ See 77:1-10 of the deposition transcript of Gary Anderson, Ph.D., dated October 19, 2012 ("Dawson Depo."); see also Anderson Depo., 14:7-12

⁵ See Hearing Transcript ("HT") 33:14-21; See also 20:11-14 of the deposition transcript of Newman "Kal" Giles dated July 22, 2010 ("Kal Depo.").

⁶ HT 102:10-11.

⁷ HT 91:14-23 (Emphasis added).

Kal's truck was built for speed. Kal's truck was a Chevy Duramax diesel with a V8 engine⁸ and was "double chipped" to make it go faster.⁹ The double chip "amps up the horsepower tremendously" for "more speed" and "takes the governor off of the vehicle."¹⁰ The chips gave the truck over 400 horse power.¹¹ In addition, Kal's truck had a methanol kit which included a button you pressed "when you've got the throttle down" to increase the horsepower and speed,¹² and Kal's truck had an adjusted air intake system to make it go faster.¹³

Prior to the accident, Kal bragged that he had the fastest truck in high school and everyone wanted to ride with him because it was the fastest. Kal's brother's truck (the truck Kal was driving at the time of the accident) was modified just like Kal's truck to go fast.

Prior to the accident, Kal had gotten at least three speeding tickets and he had received several warnings for speeding. ¹⁶ Kal was once arrested for driving over 100 miles per hour on his way from Arizona to Idaho, ¹⁷ and Kal stated that the Arizona incident was not the only time

8 HT 45:2-6.

9 HT 37:8-9.

10 HT 37:13-22.

11 HT 45:14-18.

12 HT 44:16-45:1.

13 HT 45:7-21.

14 HT 44:3-7.

15 HT 46:12-19.

16 HT 46:20-47:6.

17 HT 49:11-14.

he had driven over 100 miles per hour.¹⁸ Also, Officer Allen Bivins of the Idaho State Police remembers stopping Kal at least once or twice for speeding, but he did not give Kal a citation.¹⁹

Prior to the accident, Kal described himself as a "big drinker."²⁰ Kal has been charged with three misdemeanor offenses of "Possession of Alcohol by a Minor" in 2005, 2006, and 2007.²¹ Also, Kal has had one prior DUI offense, ²² and he said he consumed alcohol "daily."²³

B. <u>Day Of The Incident.</u>

Kal was an employee of Eagle Farms.²⁴ His job was to check and inspect the sprinkler pivots on the various farms owned by Eagle Farms.²⁵ In the early morning of August 17, 2008, Kal drove his brother's Chevy Duramax truck to Terreton, Idaho, to work on a sprinkler pivot²⁶ and Jonathan Glodo ("Jonathan") rode with Kal.²⁷

Earlier that evening, Jonathan had been with Kal at Chili's restaurant in Idaho Falls. 28

Kal and Jonathan left Chili's restaurant at approximately 1:00 a.m. and took a friend home. 29

Then Kal and Jonathan went to Terreton to work on the sprinkler pivot. 30 Kal and Jonathan left

¹⁸ HT 48:16-20.

¹⁹ HT 77:22-24.

²⁰ HT 32:8-11.

²¹ See Jefferson County Case No. CR-2007-1809; Fremont County Case No. CR-2006-314; Jefferson County Case No. CR-2005-274. The case history for these cases was included in the Idaho State Police Report of Corporal Allen W. Bivins ("Officer Bivins Report").

²² Anderson Depo., 69:2-13.

²³ Kal Depo., 22:16-25.

²⁴ HT 43:3-5.

²⁵ HT 43:6-15.

²⁶ HT 91:9-11; Bivins Report p.3 and 6.

²⁷ Bivins Report p. 6.

²⁸ Bivins Report p. 6.

²⁹ Bivins Report p. 6.

³⁰ HT 91:9-11; Bivins Report p. 6.

Terreton at approximately 3:00 a.m. to drive back to Kal's home.³¹ Jonathan never saw Kal drink any alcohol, and even though Jonathan rode in the same truck as Kal, he did not smell alcohol on Kal's breath.³²

Throughout the evening and early morning hours and prior to Kal's accident, Kal had been sending and receiving several text messages to and from his friend Ryan Holm. ³³ Kal was sending text messages to Ryan at approximately the same time the car accident happened (3:30 a.m.). ³⁴

On the way back to Kal's home, at approximately 3:30 a.m., Kal and Jonathan were involved in a motor vehicle accident traveling south on Old Basset Highway when Kal failed to negotiate a right-hand curve as he neared 3145 East and ran off the east side of the highway. The vehicle traveled down a steep embankment and rolled several times. At the time of the accident, Kal was traveling at approximately 123 miles per hour. The posted speed limit was 50 miles per hour.

Kal was not wearing a seatbelt and was ejected 90 feet from the vehicle.³⁹ Kal sustained critical injuries, including a lacerated liver, one broken rib, a severe head injury,

³¹ HT 27:15-20.

³² Bivins Report p. 6.

³³ HT 50:9-51:6.

³⁴ HT 50:9-51:6.

³⁵ HT 58:19:20; 57:5-7; Bivins Report p. 1.

³⁶ Bivins Report p. 1.

³⁷ HT 18:25.

³⁸ HT 59:23-24.

³⁹ Bivins Report pp. 1, 4, and 5.

fractured left clavicle, and compression fractures of the vertebrae in the neck and back. 40

Jonathan was wearing his seatbelt, was not ejected from the vehicle, and sustained minor injuries. 41 Also, at the time of the accident, Kal had a blood alcohol level of .11, 42 he was 19-years-old, and weighed 190 pounds. 43

C. <u>Newman's Testimony</u>.

Newman is Kal's father. ⁴⁴ Newman is also Kal's supervisor and an owner of Eagle Farms, Inc. (a defendant in this case). ⁴⁵ After the accident, Newman sent some of his employees over to the place of the accident with some flatbeds and track hoes to clean up the wreckage. ⁴⁶ In the process of moving the truck, one of the employees found Kal's cellphone and brought it to Newman. ⁴⁷ Newman checked the most recent text messages on the cellphone and saw that there were about 3 or 4 text messages on the phone between the time period of 3:15 a.m. and 3:30 a.m. the morning of the accident. ⁴⁸ The text messages were between Kal and Ryan Holm. ⁴⁹ Newman said he read the text messages and that in the text messages Ryan Holm indicated he was having a hard time, and Kal was trying to console him. ⁵⁰

⁴⁰ Bivins Report pp. 1 and 6.

⁴¹ Bivins Report p. 6.

⁴² Dawson Depo., 16:14.

⁴³ Bivins Report p. 1.

⁴⁴ HT 90:9-11.

⁴⁵ HT 90:7-91:8.

⁴⁶ HT 94:2-96:4.

⁴⁷ HT 94:2-96:4.

⁴⁸ HT 95:14-96:18.

⁴⁹ HT 95:14-96:18.

D. Officer Bivins' Testimony.

Officer Allen A. Bivins is employed with the Idaho State Police ("ISP") and he is an accident reconstructionist. ⁵¹ Officer Bivins investigated the scene of Kal's car accident. ⁵² Based on Officer Bivins' investigation, he concluded that Kal was travelling at a speed of around 123 miles per hour when he crashed. ⁵³

Officer Bivins testified he *could not* say whether alcohol was a "substantial cause" for Kal's speeding and that *alcohol affects people in different ways*.⁵⁴ Officer Bivins testified that an inexperienced drinker may experience a greater level of impairment versus an experienced drinker consuming the same amount of alcohol.⁵⁵ Officer Bivins testified he knew that Kal had used alcohol prior to the day of the accident and had built up some tolerance for alcohol.⁵⁶ Officer Bivins cited Kal for underage drinking in 2007.⁵⁷

Officer Bivins stated that "speed" was a substantial contributing factor to Kal's accident. 58 Officer Bivins stated that he has received special training as a patrol officer on how

50 HT 95:14-96:18.

51 HT 55:19-56:11.

52 HT 56:21-58:11.

53 HT 62:18-25.

54 HT 76:4-11.

55 HT 73:17-74:10.

56 HT 74:11-75:7.

57 See Jefferson County Case No. CR-2007-1809 (this case history is included in Officer Bivins' Report). 58 HT 75:21-25.

to drive fast.⁵⁹ Officer Bivins stated that he would probably not be successful at negotiating the curve driving Kal's truck at 123 miles per hour, and he would not try to do it.⁶⁰

Officer Bivins said texting can be a factor in causing an accident because it calls attention off the roadway. Officer Bivins agreed that people can speed and exercise poor judgment, even when alcohol is not a factor at all. 62

E. Dr. Joe Anderson's Testimony.

Dr. Joe Anderson is a board certified emergency room physician and Chief Medical

Officer for Eastern Idaho Regional Medical Center. He has been licensed to practice medicine
in the State of Idaho since 1991. He also works as a psychiatrist at the Mental Wellness

Center, where he diagnoses mental illnesses and prescribes medication to treat mental
illnesses. He also provides diagnostic treatment at Children's Supportive Services and
psychiatric evaluations and treatments for another organization called Transitions. Dr.

Anderson is trained in pharmacology and toxicology. The formula of the provides diagnostic treatment organization called Transitions.

⁵⁹ HT 79:22-25 (Emphasis added).

⁶⁰ HT 80:19-81:21.

⁶¹ HT 82:14-83:6.

⁶² HT 84:5-8.

⁶³ Anderson Depo., 5:2-15; 6:24-25.

⁶⁴ Anderson Depo., 6:20-22.

⁶⁵ Anderson Depo., 5:19-6:19.

⁶⁶ Anderson Depo., 5:19-6:19.

⁶⁷ Anderson Depo., 7:2-16.

Dr. Anderson stated that Kal has an Axis 1 diagnosis of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder ("ADHD")⁶⁸ and that ADHD causes a person to have an addictive personality.⁶⁹ Dr. Anderson opined that one of Kal's major addictions is his addiction to speed.⁷⁰

Dr. Anderson testified that in his opinion the reasonable and substantial cause of Kal's injuries is "excessive speed caused by an addictive personality with his ADHD where he was addicted to speed." Dr. Anderson bases his opinion that Kal was addicted to speed on "excessive speeding tickets. The need for speed. Building a truck that was built for speed. A badge of courage . . . in which he considered himself a speed demon, all those kinds of things. And we know that ADHD people do have addictive personalities."

Dr. Anderson testified that he considered alcohol to be a minor factor for Kal's accident because he could find no medical evidence that supports the theory that drinking alcohol causes a person to drive faster. In addition, Dr. Anderson stated that nobody can say based on reasonable medical probability that alcohol was a reasonable and substantial cause of the injuries Kal sustained because there is no way to quantify the exact percent of alcohol that is going to impair a person. According to Dr. Anderson, Kal was not an "alcohol virgin." He stated it is important to take into account a person's prior alcohol consumption because over

⁶⁸ Anderson Depo., 14:7-12.

⁶⁹ Anderson Depo., 14:7-20.

⁷⁰ Anderson Depo., 14:7-20.

⁷¹ Anderson Depo., 24:17-19.

⁷² Anderson Depo., 24:20-25:4.

⁷³ Anderson Depo., 21:18-22:2; 25:5-20.

⁷⁴ Anderson Depo., 21:11-15; 27:23-28:12.

time a person can build up a level of tolerance to alcohol and become better at functioning while under the influence of alcohol.⁷⁶

Furthermore, Dr. Anderson stated that while a certain number of people could still negotiate that corner with a .11 BAC going at or below the speed limit, nobody could make that corner going 123 miles per hour.⁷⁷

Dr. Anderson stated that Kal's ADHD caused Kal to engage in risk-taking behavior, including driving at excessive speeds and being very impulsive. ⁷⁸ He stated that a correlation cannot be drawn between alcohol and speed because Kal received many speeding tickets when he was not intoxicated. ⁷⁹

F. Gary Dawson's Testimony.

Gary Dawson has a Ph.D. in pharmacology. ⁸⁰ Mr. Dawson is not a medical doctor. ⁸¹ Mr. Dawson is not qualified to make a diagnosis of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder ("ADHD"), and he is not qualified to prescribe any medications for ADHD. ⁸²

Mr. Dawson stated that Kal's blood alcohol content together with the presence of opiates produced a marked impairment of his ability to operate a motor vehicle in a safe manner and his resultant intoxication was a reasonable and substantial cause of the accident

⁷⁵ Anderson Depo., 23:1-5.

⁷⁶ Anderson Depo., 23:1-13.

⁷⁷ Anderson Depo., 28:4-20; 21:18-22:20.

⁷⁸ Anderson Depo., 28:21-29:25.

⁷⁹ Anderson Depo., 29:17-25.

⁸⁰ Dawson Depo., 5:10-11.

⁸¹ Dawson Depo., 32:9-11.

and Kal's injuries.⁸³ Mr. Dawson agreed that a person can have alcohol and opiates in their system which has an effect on a person but that is not a substantial cause of the accident.⁸⁴

Mr. Dawson stated that Kal's speed of 123 miles per hour was a "huge factor" and a substantial factor in causing Kal's accident.⁸⁵

Mr. Dawson further stated that the only evidence "you need" to show that alcohol was a substantial cause of Kal's injuries is Kal's BAC and Kal's crash. ⁸⁶ He testified as follows:

- Q. What facts do you have to say that, on the night of the accident, the alcohol was the substantial factor, as opposed to his general propensity to drive fast?
- A. The alcohol level of .11. He is drunk, and he crashed. He missed the turn. He didn't even try to make the turn, from what it looked like in the reconstruction. You are drunk, and you crash.
 - Q. And that is all of the facts that you have got?
 - A. That's all you need, to look at that relationship.⁸⁷

Importantly, Mr. Dawson did not opine that Kal was driving at 123 mph and texting because he had been drinking alcohol. Mr. Dawson agreed that alcohol probably did not cause Kal to drive 123 miles per hour and that it is pure speculation to attempt to link Kal's speed at the time of the accident to Kal's alcohol consumption.

⁸² Dawson Depo., 76:14-20.

⁸³ Dawson Depo., 27:22-28:5.

⁸⁴ Dawson Depo., 50:5-11.

⁸⁵ Dawson Depo., 79:14-22; 81:24-82:15.

⁸⁶ Dawson Depo., 90:9-18.

⁸⁷ Dawson Depo., 90:9-18.

⁸⁸ Dawson Depo., 101:7-11.

COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS

Kal's Complaint And Respondents' Answer

On June 12, 2009, Kal filed a worker's compensation complaint against his employer, Eagle Farms, Inc. and the State Insurance Fund (collectively "the Employer"). ⁹¹ The Employer filed its answer to the complaint and raised various affirmative defenses, including that Kal's intoxication was a reasonable and substantial cause of his injury "such that pursuant to Idaho Code Section 72-208, no income benefits shall be paid to Claimant." ⁹²

Motion to Bifurcate

On July 24, 2009, Kal filed a motion to bifurcate the issues of compensability/liability and the issues related to benefits and damages. ⁹³ The Employer stipulated to the motion to bifurcate the issues. ⁹⁴ On January 26, 2010, the Commission entered an Amended Order Bifurcating Issues and ordered that "the only issue before the Industrial Commission at this time is whether Claimant is precluded from recovering benefits pursuant to Idaho Code § 72-208(2)." ⁹⁵

⁸⁹ Dawson Depo., 54:20-23.

⁹⁰ Dawson Depo., 55:9-14.

⁹¹ R Vol. I, p. 1.

⁹² R Vol. I, pp. 5-7.

⁹³ R Vol. I, pp. 8-9.

⁹⁴ R Vol. I, p. 11.

⁹⁵ R Vol. I, p. 15

Hearing

On June 12, 2012, Michael E. Powers (the "Referee") conducted the hearing for the Commission. ⁹⁶ At the hearing, both parties presented oral and documentary evidence. ⁹⁷ After the hearing, the record remained open for the taking of the post-hearing depositions of Mr. Dawson and Dr. Anderson. ⁹⁸ The parties then submitted their briefs and the case was taken under advisement by the Commission on April 29, 2013. ⁹⁹

The Commission's Findings Of Fact, Conclusion Of Law, And Recommendation, And The Commission's Order.

On August 27, 2013, the Referee issued his Findings of Fact, Conclusion of Law, and Recommendation ("Findings"). ¹⁰⁰ In his Findings, the Referee refused to consider any evidence of texting because Kal could not "locate his cell phone," the issue was "not raised until the hearing," and the "evidence regarding texting cannot be corroborated." ¹⁰¹ The Referee also declined to find that Kal's failure to wear a seat belt was a reasonable and substantial cause of his injuries. The Referee stated that "the evidence in the record is insufficient to establish the degree, if any, to which Claimant's injuries would have been ameliorated, had he been belted in."

96 R Vol. I, p. 17; HT 2:1-4:22.

⁹⁷ R Vol. I, p. 17; HT 2:1-4:22.

⁹⁸ R Vol. I, p. 17.

⁹⁹ R Vol. I, p. 17.

¹⁰⁰ R Vol. I, p. 17.

¹⁰¹ R Vol. I, p. 20.

¹⁰² R Vol. I, p. 19.

The Referee also found the opinions of Mr. Dawson more persuasive than Dr. Anderson because, among other things, "Dr. Anderson did not have an opinion regarding the effects of hydrocodone or opiates [which] may [have] contributed to Claimant's accident. . . ."¹⁰³

The Referee concluded that the "clearest explanation for Claimant's unusual reckless state of mind, based upon the evidence in the record, is that he was experiencing impairment due to intoxication" and that "Defendants have met their burden of proving Claimant's intoxication was a reasonable and substantial factor contributing to his accident and injuries." 104

On the same day the Referee issued his Decision, the Commission issued its Order, approving and adopting the Referee's Decision as their own. ¹⁰⁵ In its Order, the Commission ordered that: (1) "Defendants have met their burden in proving that Claimant's intoxication was a reasonable and substantial cause of his injuries, such that he is barred from receiving income benefits pursuant to Idaho Code § 72-208" and (2) "[p]ursuant to Idaho Code § 72-718, this decision is final and conclusive as to all matters adjudicated." ¹⁰⁶

On September 26, 2013, Kal timely filed his Notice of Appeal. 107

¹⁰³ R Vol. I, p. 11.

¹⁰⁴ R Vol. I, p. 28.

¹⁰⁵ R Vol. I, pp. 17 and 30.

¹⁰⁶ R Vol. I, pp. 30-31.

¹⁰⁷ R Vol. I, pp. 32-34.

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- 1. Did the Industrial Commission commit reversible error by refusing to consider evidence that Kal was texting at the time of the accident?
- 2. Did the Industrial Commission commit reversible error by finding that intoxication was a reasonable and substantial cause of his injuries?
- 3. Did the Industrial Commission commit reversible error by relying on Kal's use of prescription medication to find that intoxication was a reasonable and substantial cause of Kal's injuries?
- 4. Did the Industrial Commission commit reversible error by refusing to find that Kal's failure to wear a seat belt was a reasonable and substantial cause of his injuries?

ARGUMENT

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Idaho Supreme Court has stated:

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