## Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-13-2014

# Giles v. Eagle Farms Respondent's Brief Dckt. 41469

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

Hatley, 97 Idaho at p. 723, fn 1. (emphasis added). This statute required that defendants prove the intoxication defense by proximate "but for" causation or that it was the sole cause which is no longer required by Idaho Code § 72-708(2). Prior to the amendment of Idaho Code § 72-208(2)'s amendment in 1997, the statute required a showing by defendants that the claimant's intoxication was a "the proximate cause" of the claimant's injury. Hatley, 97 Idaho at 722. (emphasis added). The current statute requires proof that the claimant's intoxication be "a reasonable and substantial cause" of the injuries. As previously noted, under Idaho law there is a significant difference between the burden required for proving proximate "but for" causation and "substantial factor" causation now required by Idaho Code § 72-208(2). In an effort to avoid the application of Idaho Code § 72-208, claimant alleged several potential causes of his accident, among them his intoxication. Defendants need only prove that his admitted intoxication was a substantial factor in causing his injuries, not that his injuries likely would have occurred even if he were not intoxicated or that it was the primary cause of his injuries, as was the case in Hatley.

Additionally, the burden of establishing the intoxication defense upon the defendants in *Hatley* was much greater than in the current case because the defendants in *Hatley* had to overcome the rebuttable presumption set forth in Idaho Code § 72-228 as it existed in 1976. At the time of the decision in *Hatley*, Idaho Code § 72-228 provided a presumption in cases

involving an employee's death or where the claimant could not testify that that the injury or death was not occasioned by the employee's intoxication. *Hatley*, 97 Idaho at 722. However, the current version (which was amended in 1997 at the same time as Idaho Code § 72-208) specifically excludes the presumption in cases where defendants raise the intoxication defense under 72-208. Idaho Code § 72-228(2). In *Hatley* the defendants could not overcome the pre-1997 amendment presumption set forth in Idaho Code § 72-228. Moreover, the amendment of Idaho Code § 72-228 to specifically exclude the applicability of the presumption in cases involving an employee's intoxication indicates the Legislature's intent to reduce defendants' burden of proving the intoxication defense. This amendment coincides with the amendment of Idaho Code § 72-208(2) (which lessened the defendant's causation burden) demonstrating the Legislature's intent to reduce a defendant's burden to prove the intoxication defense under Idaho's workers' compensation laws.

Finally, as opposed to the defendants in *Hatley*, here defendants provided sufficient proof that the claimant's admitted intoxication was a reasonable and substantial cause of his accident. In *Hatley* the defendants relied solely on the fact that the claimant had a BAC of .11 at the time of the accident. In *Hatley*, as opposed to this case, there was testimony that prior to his accident the claimant was not drunk and did not seem intoxicated to people who saw him. *Hatley*, 97 Idaho at p. 721. Additionally, there was evidence that the curve where the accident occurred had caused several previous accidents, including one where a semi-truck had failed to negotiate the curve one year prior to the accident. <u>Id</u>.

In the present case, claimant was admittedly intoxicated, he had driven the road where the accident occurred hundreds of times prior to this accident without incident despite his propensity to speed, he had never been involved in an accident prior to his August 2008 crash, he was driving two and a half times over the speed limit at the time he failed to negotiate the curve despite the fact that he was able to negotiate that curve hundreds of times before while presumably driving over the speed limit as was his habit, and he admitted that his actions on the night of the accident were reckless. Thus defendants produced significant evidence that claimant's intoxication was a substantial cause of his injuries.

Moreover, in *Hatley*, the Supreme Court specifically limited its holding in the case stating "we only hold that the blood alcohol level of .117% in this case is not sufficiently high to *overcome the statutory presumption against causation*." *Hatley*, 97 Idaho at 722. (emphasis added). It is clear that this statutory presumption no longer applies to cases involving an employee's admitted intoxication. Idaho Code § 72-228(2). Therefore, *Hatley* is not dispositive and does not control the present case before the Commission.

Claimant's reliance on *Folse v. American Well Control* is also misplaced and of no precedential value. In his Brief, claimant argues that *Folse*, 536 So.2d 686 (La. App. 3 Cir. 1988), is even more analogous to his case than *Hatley*. Appellant's Brief, pp. 33-37. Claimant extensively argues that the decedent in *Folse* had traveled the same road numerous times before and was an experienced drinker, thereby proving that defendants herein failed to meet their burden under Idaho Code § 72-208. However, claimant's argument is misplaced.

The *Folse* court, in large part, reached its decision because it could not determine whether the decedent was actually intoxicated. *Folse*, 536 So.2d at p. 692. In the present case, however, it is undisputed that claimant was intoxicated. In determining whether intoxication was a substantial factor in causing the accident, the *Folse* court correctly noted that there must be some evidence other than the happening of the accident, such as behavior that would demonstrate "the employee's intoxication and resulting impairment or loss of control." *Folse*, 536 So.2d at 690. "Such behavior could include slurring of speech, drowsiness, staggering, and erratic driving prior to the accident." <u>Id</u>. (emphasis added). Significantly, there was no evidence of erratic driving in *Folse* (a fact ignored by claimant in his Brief):

The investigating officer inspected the roadway for a distance of about six-tenths of a mile back from the scene of the accident and found no evidence of irregular driving on the part of Mr. Folse.

Folse, 536 So.2d at 691. In the present case, claimant drove off the road at 123 mph, which claimant admitted was reckless.

Aside from the fact that the legal standard employed by the Louisiana Court was significantly different than Idaho's and that the *Folse* court determined that the decedent in that case was not intoxicated for the purpose of Louisiana's statute, claimant ignores the salient fact that he – unlike Folse, who was driving normally – was driving at 123 miles per hour at the time of the accident. This is perhaps the epitome of "irregular driving." Moreover, claimant admitted he was driving recklessly.

Claimant attempts to get around this obvious problem by claiming that he was "texting on a corner while speeding" and "texting on a corner while going 123 miles per hour." Claimant's Brief at pp. 36-37. However, claimant's assertion that he was texting at the time of the accident and texting on a corner is blatant speculation and should be disregarded as such—there is no evidence whatsoever in or out of the record that claimant was texting at the time of the accident or while he was going around a curve. <sup>1</sup>

## B. The Commission's Determination That Claimant's Alleged Texting Would Not be Considered is Supported by Substantial and Competent Evidence

1. The Commission Has Discretion to Refuse to Consider Evidence that is Unreliable, Improbable, Not Credible, or Has Little Probative Value

The Commission has the discretion to refuse to consider evidence – such as claimant's last-minute evidence of texting – that is unreliable, improbable or has little probative value.

Under the Idaho Administrative Procedure Act, the Commission may exclude evidence that is irrelevant, unduly repetitious, or excludable on constitutional or statutory grounds, or on the basis of any evidentiary privilege provided by statute or recognized in the courts of Idaho. IDAPA 09.01.06.026.13; Idaho Code § 67-5251. The Commission is not, however, bound by the Idaho Rules of Evidence. Stolle v. Bennett, 144 Idaho 44, 49-50, 156 P.3d 545, 550-51 (2007). The Commission has the discretionary power to consider any type of reliable evidence having probative value, even if that evidence is not admissible in a court of law. Id. at 50, 156 P.3d551. The Commission has the discretion admit evidence if "it is a type commonly relied upon by prudent

\_\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See Section B, infra. Claimant had no recollection of texting; the investigating officer did not find a cell phone at the scene of the accident; claimant's father —who allegedly found the phone and for the first time at the hearing claimed he saw texts had been sent and or received (at some undetermined time before the accident)—did not keep the phone; Claimant's father did not mention the alleged texting during deposition; and Claimant's expert did not address texting as a cause of the accident in his report, prepared five days before the hearing.

persons in the conduct of their affairs." <u>Id.</u>; I.C. § 67-5251. This does not mean, however, that the Commission is required to admit such evidence.

Higgins v. Larry Miller Subaru-Mitsubishi, 145 Idaho 1, 5 175 P.3d 163, 167, (2007).

The credibility of witnesses and evidence is a matter within the province of the Industrial Commission. *Zapata v. J.R. Simplot Co.*, 132 Idaho 513, 515, 975 P.2d 1178, 1180 (1999). Conclusions reached by the Commission as to the credibility and weight of evidence will not be disturbed unless the conclusions are clearly erroneous. <u>Id.</u>, *Hughen v. Highland Estates*, 137 Idaho 349, 351, 48 P.3d 1238, 1240 (2002). On appeal, this court does not re-weigh the evidence or consider whether it would have reached a different conclusion from the evidence presented. *See, Warden v. Idaho Timber Corp.*, 132 Idaho 454, 457, 974 P.2d 506, 509 (1999).

A referee need not accept as true testimony of a witness when the testimony is "inherently improbable, or rendered so by facts and circumstances disclosed at the hearing or trial." *Pierstorff v. Gray's Auto Shop*, 58 Idaho 438, 447, 74 P.2d 171, 175 (1937). *Mazzone v. Texas Roadhouse, Inc.*, 154 Idaho 750, 754, 302 P.3d 718, 726 (2013). On appeal, this court must view all facts and inferences "in the light most favorable to the party who prevailed before the Commission." *Taylor v. Soran Rest., Inc.*, 131 Idaho 525, 527, 960 P.2d 1254, 1256 (1998) (internal quotations and citation omitted).

Here, the Commission had considerable latitude whether to consider or give weight to claimant's improbable claim that he was texting. The Commission acted within its discretion when it determined that Claimant's last-minute and uncorroborated "evidence" of texting would

not be considered. The facts and circumstances disclosed (for the first time) at the hearing concerning the alleged texting render it highly improbable.

2. Claimants' Argument that He was Texting at the Time of the Accident is Disingenuous, Does Not Reflect the Testimony, and is Speculative.

At various times, claimant argues in his brief that he was texting at the time of the crash:

- "Evidence in the record suggests that **Kal was texting at the time he crashed**." Claimant's Brief, 3 (emphasis added).
- "Kal was sending text message to Ryan at approximately the same time the car accident happened (3:30 a.m.)." Claimant's Brief, 7 (emphasis added).
- Newman's testimony "....corroborates Kal's testimony regarding **Kal's texting at** the time of the accident." Claimant's Brief, 23 (emphasis added).
- "[Newman's]...testimony regarding **Kal's cell phone usage at the time of the accident** is an admission by the opposing party." Claimant's Brief, 24 (emphasis added).
- "\* Kal's texting while driving at time of the accident." Claimant's Brief, 32 (emphasis added).
- "However, there is no evidence that Kal, prior to the accident, had ever traveled down the Old Bassett Highway at night, **or while texting**....: Claimant's Brief, 36 (emphasis added).
- "(...texting on a corner while speeding is the cause of Kal's accident)." Claimant's Brief, 36 (emphasis added).
- "...including the facts that he was texting on a corner while going 123 miles per hour...." Claimant's Brief, 37 (emphasis added).
- "...the Commission erred in refusing to consider evidence that Kal was texting at the time of the accident;...". Claimant's Brief, 46 (emphasis added).

Contrary to claimant's various assertions, there is no evidence that claimant was texting at the time of the accident; there is no evidence that he "was texting on a corner." At most, if the testimony is to be believed, is there may have been some texts to and/or from claimant's cell phone at some unknown point prior to the accident. Claimant is simply presenting argument as fact. In fact, claimant testified that he had no independent recollection of texting before the accident. Tr., p. 50, Ll. 1-4. There is no evidence in the record as to the exact time the accident actually occurred nor is there testimony or other evidence of the time(s) that claimant was allegedly texting.

3. Evidence of Claimant's Alleged Texting is Improbable and Unreliable.

Numerous facts disclosed at the hearing support the improbability and unreliability of claimant's last-minute assertion that he was texting:

- Claimant had no independent recollection of texting at the time of the accident. Tr., p. 50, Ll. 1-4.
- The issue of the alleged texting was never raised not even once before the hearing. Tr., p. 40, Ll. 7-11; Tr., p. 99, Ll. 16-21.
- Corporal Bivens never found the cell phone despite his thorough search immediately after the accident. Tr., p. 64, Ll. 13-25; p. 84, Ll.15-19.
- Neither claimant nor his father ever notified the police or the defendant that a cell phone had been found. Tr., p. 41, Ll. 11-14; Tr., p. 66, Ll. 4-7.
- Claimant could not produce his phone. Tr., p. 51, Ll. 17-19.
- Claimant never mentioned the alleged texting during his deposition or in answer to interrogatories. Tr., p. 54, Ll. 10-24.

- Claimant's father never mentioned the alleged texting during his deposition and cited speeding as the cause (not texting), despite being asked what his investigation showed caused the accident Tr., p. 96, L. 24 p. 97, L 16.; p. 98, Ll. 17-21.
- Claimant never asked the friend he was allegedly texting if he still had his phone to verify the texting. Tr., p. 52, Ll. 1-8.
- Claimant's expert Dr. Joe Anderson (who's own son was involved in a serious car accident caused by texting) NEVER cited texting as a cause of the accident in his report, which was dated a mere five days before the hearing. Claimant's Ex. 3; Anderson depo., p. 47, Ll. 7-22.

The claimant's alleged texting was never disclosed until the hearing, even to claimant's own expert who prepared a report five days before hearing. The facts outlined above highlight the improbability and unreliability of claimant's "texting evidence." Combined with the fact that the most that claimant could show was that that texting occurred at some point prior to the accident, the Commission was correct and within its authority as finder of fact in determining that the uncorroborated evidence regarding texting would not be considered, and that the clearest explanation for the claimant's driving off the road and rolling his truck at 123 miles per hour was that "he was experiencing impairment due to intoxication." R., p. 28.

#### 4. The Alleged Texting Was Not an "Undisputed Fact"

Claimant's argument that his alleged texting is an "undisputed fact" because his father is his employer ignores the fact that Newman Giles is claimant's father, and thus was essentially in the position of a hostile witness. Moreover, admissions by a party opponent relate to whether out of court statements are considered hearsay – not whether such statements must be considered true. Newman's testimony was impeached on cross examination, thus he is not credible. The

Commission determined, for the reasons discussed above, that the so-called texting evidence was improbable and unreliable.

#### 5. Any Refusal to Consider Evidence of Texting was Harmless Error

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